

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	TERM OF AGREEMENT	3
2.	DEFINITIONS	3
3.	DISCRIMINATION	4
4.	UNION RECOGNITION	5
5.	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	5
6.	LABOUR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	5
7.	SENIORITY	5
8.	CLASSIFICATIONS AND PAY	6
9.	VACANCIES AND NEW POSITIONS	6
10.	SENIOR WORK	7
11.	APPRENTICESHIP	7
12.	VOLTAGE LEVELS & SAFE WORK COMPLEMENT	8
13.	HOURS OF WORK	8
14.	OVERTIME	8
15.	CALLOUT	8
16.	STANDBY	9
17.	OVERTIME BANK	9
18.	TRAINING AND EDUCATION	10
19.	GENERAL HOLIDAYS	10
20.	VACATIONS	11
21.	WORK AT HEIGHTS OF SIXTY-FIVE (65) FEET OR MORE	12
22.	PAY DAYS	12
23.	GROUP HEALTH AND INSURANCE COVERAGE	12
24.	DEATH AND DISABILITY COVERAGE	14
25.	LEAVE OF ABSENCE	15
26.	MATERNITY LEAVE	16
27.	PARENTAL LEAVE	16
28.	JURY DUTY	17
29.	SICK LEAVE	17
30.	MODIFIED WORK PROGRAM	18
31.	SPECIAL LEAVE	18
32.	WORKER'S COMPENSATION	19
33.	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	19
34.	SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES	20
35.	JOINT SAFETY COMMITTEE	20
36.	LAYOFF AND RECALL	20
37.	WORKFORCE REDUCTION	21
38.	RESIGNATION, DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL	21
39.	GRIFVANCES	22

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF MEDICINE HAT

AND

LOCAL 254 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS (ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION)

The terms and conditions contained herein shall be applicable to all employees covered by this Agreement employed by the City in the positions classified in Appendix I.

1. TERM OF AGREEMENT

- 1.1. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect as of January 1, 2024, and continue in effect until December 31, 2027, and from year to year thereafter except as hereinafter provided.
- 1.2. Either party desiring to amend this Agreement or to commence collective bargaining may do so in writing to the said party not later than sixty (60) days or not more than one hundred and twenty (120) days prior to the expiration date of this Agreement.
- 1.3. If notice to negotiate has been given by either party, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect up to the date that the Union or the City commences a strike or lockout.
- 1.4. Upon expiration of this Agreement as stipulated above, both parties agree to make a sincere endeavor to arrive at a new Agreement through direct negotiations. Should such negotiations fail, both parties agree to comply with the provisions of the Alberta Labour Relations Code.
- 1.5. Representatives of the parties may agree to amend the Agreement provided that such amendments are subject to the respective ratification processes of the parties. Amendments to the Agreement shall be by letter of agreement or letter of understanding.

2. **DEFINITIONS**

- 2.1. <u>Anniversary Date</u>: shall mean the yearly date that is established by the commencement of the latest period of continuous employment.
- 2.2. <u>City Grievance Committee</u>: shall mean a committee including an appointed member of City Council, the Managing Director of the Division where the grievance was initiated, and any one other member of the City's Executive Team.
- 2.3. <u>Continuous Employment</u>: shall mean all periods of employment, including temporary and relief assignments, with the City. This may include periods of approved leaves of absence and more than one (1) period of employment, provided that no more than ninety (90) days elapsed between periods of employment.
- 2.4. <u>Days</u>: shall mean calendar days unless otherwise stipulated in this Agreement.

- 2.5. Director: shall mean the designated head of the Department.
- 2.6. <u>Employee</u>: shall mean all employees of the City pursuant to Alberta Labour Relations Board Certificate No 1089-90.
 - 2.6.1. <u>Permanent Employee</u>: shall mean an employee who has been permanently placed into a permanently established position.
 - 2.6.2. <u>Temporary Employee</u>: shall mean an employee hired to assist in peak work periods, or to relieve for a permanent employee who is on an approved leave of absence and is subject to layoff at the completion of the assignment.
- 2.7. <u>Letter of Agreement</u>: when attached to this collective agreement shall mean a mutually agreed letter, in writing, authorized by the signing authorities to this Collective Agreement, that amends the terms and conditions of this Collective Agreement on an ongoing basis that may, or may not, be incorporated into the main body of the Collective Agreement during collective bargaining.
- 2.8. <u>Letter of Understanding</u>: when attached to this collective agreement shall mean a mutually agreed letter, in writing, between the Union and the Human Resources Department that on a case-by-case basis temporarily bypasses a specific article(s) of the Collective Agreement or provides clarification on how an article(s) is to be applied/interpreted in the Collective Agreement.
- 2.9. <u>Pay</u>: shall mean:
 - 2.9.1. <u>Basic Rate of Pay</u>: shall mean the rate of pay assigned to the classifications in Appendix I and does not include any other allowances or premiums.
 - 2.9.2. <u>Regular Pay</u>: shall mean the regular, re-occurring pattern of pay for an employee while working his regular hours of work, including allowances, general holiday pay, premiums, but does not include overtime.
- 2.10. Permanent Position: shall mean a position permanently established by the City.
- 2.11. <u>Supervisor</u>: shall mean the immediate non-union Supervisor to whom the employee reports unless otherwise specified.
- 2.12. No matter what pronoun is used in the Agreement to reference plural or singular, male of female, it shall be considered to represent all employees regardless of gender, gender identity or gender expression.

3. DISCRIMINATION

3.1. The City and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination, interference, restriction or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any employee in the matter of hiring, wage rates, training, upgrading, promotion, transfer, layoff, recall, discipline or discharge by reason of age, race, creed, colour, national origin, political or religious affiliation, sex or marital status, nor by reason of his membership or activity or lack thereof in the Union.

4. UNION RECOGNITION

- 4.1. The City recognizes the Union as the sole bargaining agent of the employees covered by this Agreement, and agrees not to bargain collectively with any other labour organization affecting employees covered by this Agreement.
- 4.2. All employees shall as a condition of employment become a Union member and/or pay to the Union the equivalent of Union dues. Such dues shall be deducted bi-weekly from the employees' salary cheque commencing in the second (2nd) month of employment and submitted to the Union.
- 4.3. The Business Manager of the Union shall appoint a Shop Steward(s) to protect the jurisdiction and interests of the local Union and shall inform the City, in writing, of the names of employee(s) appointed. Shop Stewards shall be granted sufficient time to conduct the legitimate business of the Union with City representatives at no loss of regular pay.
- 4.4. A maximum of three (3) employees shall receive regular pay while attending collective agreement negotiation meetings if such meetings are held during working hours.

5. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

5.1. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Union acknowledges the rights of the City to manage the business in which it is engaged, to direct the working forces, to hire, promote, transfer, discharge or otherwise discipline any employee for just cause.

6. LABOUR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

6.1. The parties recognize the benefits of communicating with each other on a regular basis on matters of mutual concern. Therefore, a labour/management committee shall be established with representation from both parties. This committee shall develop a committee guidelines document that will deal with the specific details of the committee operations. The committee may amend this document as the need arises.

7. SENIORITY

- 7.1. Seniority within this Agreement shall be established as the date that the employee started in a permanent position within the bargaining unit.
 - 7.1.1. A temporary employee appointed to a permanent position shall have his seniority date pro-rated based on his accumulated regular hours paid in the temporary position he occupied before being appointed to a permanent position.
- 7.2. When an employee accepts a position within the City outside of the bargaining unit, such employee shall be permitted to retain his seniority in the bargaining unit for a period not to exceed six (6) months from date of transfer.
- 7.3. Where an employee leaves the City's service, or is dismissed for cause and is later re-engaged, his seniority shall date only from the time of his re-engagement, except that if an employee is dismissed for cause and later reinstated through the grievance procedure, there shall be no loss of seniority.

8. CLASSIFICATIONS AND PAY

- 8.1. Basic rates of pay shall be as outlined in the Classifications and Pay Schedule in Appendix I.
- 8.2. In the event that a new position is created, the City shall notify the Union in writing and provide a copy of the job description. In the event that the City makes a change to an existing position, the City shall endeavour to notify the Union in writing and provide a copy of the job description. If an existing position is changed substantially, the Union may request a classification review.
 - 8.2.1. Requests shall be made in writing to the Director.
 - 8.2.2. The request shall be examined by the appropriate Managing Director and the Director of Human Resources, and their decision shall be communicated in writing to the Union.
 - 8.2.3. This decision may be appealed to the City Grievance Committee. The decision of the City Grievance Committee shall be communicated to the Union in writing and shall be final and binding with no recourse to arbitration.

9. VACANCIES AND NEW POSITIONS

- 9.1. When a vacancy occurs in a permanent position, or a new permanent position is created, such position shall be posted within three (3) months of the position becoming vacant.
 - 9.1.1. Should the City decide not to fill a vacant position, it shall notify the Union in writing.
 - 9.1.2. Positions shall be posted for a period of seven (7) days.
 - 9.1.3. No outside advertisement shall be placed until the applications of bargaining unit members have been reviewed. However, if in the opinion of the City, no satisfactory applications have been received, the City reserves the right to advertise the position outside of the bargaining unit.
- 9.2. When evaluating each applicant, the City shall consider the qualifications, knowledge, ability, skill, training and experience applicable to the position. In the event that these factors are considered by the City as being relatively equal, length of seniority shall be used in determining preference or priority when filling the vacancy.
- 9.3. All new employees shall serve a probationary period for the first one thousand (1000) regular hours paid to allow the City to determine the employee's suitability and ability for continued employment.
 - 9.3.1. A probationary period may be extended by the City up to an additional five hundred (500) regular hours paid.
- 9.4. When an employee is appointed to another position (including a position outside of the bargaining unit), he shall serve a trial period of up to one thousand (1000) regular hours paid to allow the City to determine his suitability for the position.
 - 9.4.1. At any time during the trial period the City may direct the employee to return, or the employee may elect to return, to his former position and corresponding rate of pay.

- 9.4.2. Where other employees have been selected to fill vacancies resulting from an appointment and an employee returns to his former position during the trial period, all employees affected shall return to their former positions and corresponding rates of pay.
- 9.4.3. The trial period may be extended by mutual agreement between the City and the Union.
- 9.5. An employee who has retired from the City may be re-employed as a temporary employee to fill a short-term need not to exceed a term of (12) months. Any extension of the term is subject to mutual agreement between the City and the Union.

10. SENIOR WORK

- 10.1. Where an employee is appointed to an acting capacity to temporarily perform the duties of a position having a higher classification, such person shall receive the minimum basic rate of pay established for the acting position.
- 10.2. In the event a Foreman is absent from his duties, a temporary Foreman shall be assigned. A temporary Foreman shall only be appointed if he is supervising one (1) or more employees. If the temporary assignment is for four (4) hours or more, the temporary foreman shall receive the applicable basic rate of pay from the immediate time of appointment.

11. APPRENTICESHIP

- 11.1. The parties agree that an effective apprenticeship program depends on the orderly progression of apprentices to Journeyman status and are committed to working together to ensure employees taking on an apprenticeship opportunity are successful. When the City appoints an employee to an apprenticeship, each apprentice shall serve the prescribed period of apprenticeship for their trade and successfully complete all training programs and examinations before they are considered a Journeyman. Advancement in classification and basic rate of pay shall be contingent upon successful completion of each period of apprenticeship. In cases where the City considers an employee's progress in the apprenticeship program to be unsatisfactory, the apprentice may be subject to termination.
- 11.2. While attending technical training, an employee appointed to an apprenticeship shall receive his basic rate of pay less any training allowances available from any government sources or agency. In addition to his basic rate of pay, an employee required to attend technical training outside of the City of Medicine Hat shall receive financial assistance from the City to offset some of the costs of technical training, as follows:
 - 11.2.1. A fifty-two dollar and fifty cent (\$52.50) per day living allowance for each day the employee is away from home in attendance at technical training; and,
 - 11.2.2. A mileage reimbursement, at the current City reimbursement rate, for two round trips during each technical training period; and,
 - 11.2.3. Reimbursement for tuition and the purchase of books.

12. VOLTAGE LEVELS & SAFE WORK COMPLEMENT

- 12.1. Identification of low, medium and high voltages are in accordance with the Occupational Health and Safety Code.
- 12.2. Medium voltage live line work must be carried out with the minimum staff complement required for the specific task as outlined in the Occupational Health and Safety Code. Additionally, an employee must ensure the presence of a second qualified individual during the following operations regardless of whether they occur during regular hours or during an after-hours response:
 - 12.2.1. Hands-on work with energized secondary equipment of 347/600 voltages.
 - 12.2.2. Aloft work, which includes any climbing or bucket work regardless of operating voltage.
 - 12.2.3. Underground medium voltage switching.

13. HOURS OF WORK

- 13.1. A regular work week shall consist of forty (40) hours; Monday to Friday inclusive but may be changed by mutual agreement between the Union and the City.
- 13.2. A regular shift shall be eight (8) hours per day but may be changed by mutual agreement between the Union and the City.
- 13.3. Regular hours of work shall be scheduled between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. Start and finish times may be changed by the City with thirty (30) days notice in advance of the anticipated change.
- 13.4. Employees shall receive a fifteen (15) minute paid break in the morning, a twenty (20) minute paid break for lunch and a fifteen (15) minute paid break in the afternoon.

14. OVERTIME

- 14.1. An employee required to work in excess of his regular shift, or on a scheduled day of rest, shall be paid two (2) times his basic rate of pay for each additional hour worked.
- 14.2. No employee shall be required to take time off in lieu of overtime pay.
- 14.3. A twenty (20) minute paid lunch break on site shall be allowed employees working overtime beyond their regular shift on a continuous basis. Such lunch break shall occur after two (2) hours of overtime worked. If an employee is called in to work overtime, he shall receive a twenty (20) minute paid lunch break upon completion of each four (4) hours of overtime worked.

15. CALLOUT

15.1. An employee called out for work following his normal workday and after he has left the City work site shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at double time (2X), with the exception that an employee called in within one (1) hour of his regular start time shall be paid for actual time worked at overtime rates until his start time.

- 15.2. Call out pay shall not be construed to mean that the employee shall be paid for the same time twice. If an employee completes the initial call, and then is called back to work within the initial two (2) hours already paid at double (2x), the employee shall not receive additional pay for the remainder of the two (2) hour period.
- 15.3. An employee called out for work at any time between eight (8) hours prior to the start of his next regularly scheduled shift and two (2) hours before the start of his next regularly scheduled shift shall be provided eight (8) consecutive hours of rest beginning at the end of the work for which the employee was called out. The employee shall be paid straight time for any regular hours of work missed during the eight (8) consecutive hours of rest.
- 15.4. The City reserves the right for the Supervisor, at his discretion, to instruct any employee having worked excessive overtime hours to absent himself during regular working hours for the purpose of resting. The employee shall be paid his regular wage rate for such hours.

16. STANDBY

- 16.1. When an employee is assigned to remain on standby, he must be able to respond to a callout by attending to the line shop within thirty (30) minutes and is to be paid at his basic rate of pay for fifteen (15) hours at straight time, for one (1) week's standby from Thursday at 8:00 a.m. to Thursday at 8:00 a.m. of the following week. An additional four (4) hours pay at straight time shall be paid for each general holiday that may occur in a standby period.
- 16.2. All qualified Journeyman Power Line Technicians shall be included in the standby rotation.
 - 16.2.1. One (1) qualified Power Line Technician shall be on standby at all times.
 - 16.2.2. Two (2) qualified Journeyman Power Line Technicians shall be on standby during each week that a General Holiday occurs, as well for an additional one-week period in July of each year as designated by the City.
 - 16.2.3. A Power Line Technician may trade his position in the standby rotation with another Power Line Technician with the prior approval of the Distribution Operations Superintendent.
 - 16.2.4. Any employee in the Operations Foreman classification may choose to participate in the standby rotation on a voluntary basis. The decision of each individual Foreman must be made by December 1st of each year.

17. OVERTIME BANK

- 17.1. At the employee's option, the City shall deduct one hundred percent (100%) of overtime earned or standby pay at regular rates and shall credit the dollar amounts to the employee's overtime bank. The employee's overtime bank may have a maximum equivalent of eighty (80) hours at the end of the current weekly payroll reporting period.
 - 17.1.1. Employees must apply to their Supervisor in writing to use banked overtime, with as much advance notice as possible.

- 17.1.2. The approval or denial of banked overtime by Supervisors shall be based solely on whether there are sufficient personnel to perform the work scheduled. The decision of the Supervisor is final and is not open to dispute or argument by the employee.
- 17.1.3. Any or all of an employee's Overtime Bank may be paid out at the employee's discretion.
- 17.1.4. Banked overtime shall be credited at the basic rate of pay in effect at the time of earning. When taken as time off, hours available shall be determined by dividing the banked dollar total by the current basic rate of pay.

18. TRAINING AND EDUCATION

- 18.1. An employee who is instructed or directed by the City to attend mandatory training outside of regularly scheduled working hours, or on a regularly scheduled day of rest, shall be paid at overtime rates of pay.
 - 18.1.1. In circumstances where out of town travel is required to attend mandatory training, the employee may, whenever practical, be scheduled to travel during the regular standard hours of work. If travelling during regular standard hours of work is not practical, travel time will be paid at straight time or, when mutually agreed between the employee and his supervisor, time off in-lieu may be provided.
- 18.2. Any training that is not mandatory is considered optional training and does not constitute work as it is undertaken voluntarily. While an employee attending optional training shall suffer no loss of regular pay while attending said training, optional training outside of regularly scheduled working hours or, on a regularly scheduled day of rest, does not attract and additional pay.
 - 18.2.1. In circumstances where out-of-town travel is required to attend voluntary training, the employee may, whenever practical, be scheduled to travel during the regular standard hours of work. If travelling during regular standard hours of work is not practical, no additional pay will be provided for travel time outside of regularly scheduled working hours.

19. GENERAL HOLIDAYS

- 19.1. The following shall be considered general holidays: New Year's Day, Family Day, Good Friday, Victoria Day, Canada Day, August Civic Holiday, Labour Day, National Day for Truth & Reconciliation, Thanksgiving Day, Remembrance Day, Christmas Day and Boxing Day.
- 19.2. All permanent employees who are employed as of March 31st of each year shall be entitled to a floater holiday in lieu of Easter Monday to be taken at a time during the calendar year that is mutually agreeable between the employee and his Supervisor.
- 19.3. All "general" holidays proclaimed by the City of Medicine Hat, the Government of Alberta or the Government of Canada, shall also be observed, except where such "general" holidays are declared in lieu of the above-named general holidays, in which case the lieu day only shall be observed in place of the named general holiday.
- 19.4. When such holiday(s) falls on a Saturday and/or a Sunday, the employees shall receive the next working day(s) off following the General Holiday in lieu of same.

19.5. Any employee working in a higher classification than his regular classification immediately prior to a general holiday shall be paid at the higher classification rate for the purposes of general holiday pay, providing he has been working in that higher classification for a least four (4) consecutive working days immediately preceding that holiday and for at least four (4) consecutive working days immediately following that holiday.

20. VACATIONS

- 20.1. Each permanent employee, and each temporary employee with more than twelve (12) months of continuous employment, shall receive annual vacation with pay as follows:
 - 20.1.1. From commencement of continuous employment to his sixth (6th) anniversary date, the employee shall accumulate vacation at the rate of three (3) weeks per year or zero point zero five seven seven (0.0577) hours of entitlement for each regular hour paid.
 - 20.1.2. From his sixth (6th) to his thirteenth (13th) anniversary date, the employee shall accumulate vacation at the rate of four (4) weeks per year or zero point zero seven six nine (0.0769) hours of entitlement for each regular hour paid.
 - 20.1.3. From his thirteenth (13th) to his twentieth (20th) anniversary date, the employee shall accumulate vacation at the rate of five (5) weeks per year or zero point zero nine six two (0.0962) hours of entitlement for each regular hour paid.
 - 20.1.4. From his twentieth (20th) anniversary date onward, the employee shall accumulate vacation at the rate of six (6) weeks per year or zero point one one, five (0.115) hours of entitlement for each regular hour paid.
- 20.2. Each employee must utilize vacation such that, as of December 31st of each year he does not have more than his annual vacation entitlement accumulated in his vacation bank.
- 20.3. When a general holiday falls within an employee's vacation period, it shall be observed as a general holiday and not as vacation for that day.
- 20.4. To ensure a consistent level of customer service and that vacations do not compromise the smooth and efficient completion of scheduled projects, the vacation scheduling procedure shall be as follows:
 - 20.4.1. The approval, or denial, of vacations by Supervisors shall be based solely on whether there are sufficient personnel to perform the work scheduled.
 - 20.4.2. The decision of the Supervisor is final and is not open to dispute or argument by the employee.
 - 20.4.3. Vacation requests must be submitted, in writing, by January 31st for the period February 15th of the current year to February 14th of the following year. The approved schedule shall be posted by February 15th. When more employees in a classification request their vacation at the same time than can be accommodated, the employee(s) with the most seniority shall be given preference.

- 20.4.4. Any vacation requests made after January 31st, or any requests to change approved vacation, must be made in writing and shall be reviewed on a first come first served basis.
- 20.4.5. No employee shall take more than three (3) consecutive weeks of vacation during the months of July and August unless approved by his Supervisor.
- 20.5. Each temporary employee who has not yet accumulated twelve (12) months of continuous employment shall be paid vacation pay calculated at four percent (4%) of his basic rate of pay multiplied by his regularly scheduled hours paid in each bi-weekly pay period.
- 20.6. New permanent employees may, at the sole discretion of the City, be granted service credit for vacation accrual purposes to a maximum of ten (10) years.
- 20.7. An employee who is absent from work because of an accident or illness which occurred as a result of his employment with the City and is recognized as compensable by the Worker's Compensation Board shall continue to accrue vacation as if he was actively at work for a cumulative period of up to twelve (12) months per Worker's Compensation claim. No vacation entitlement shall accrue after this period.

21. WORK AT HEIGHTS OF SIXTY-FIVE (65) FEET OR MORE

21.1. Employees climbing poles, timbers, bridges, towers or fixtures of an elevation of sixty-five (65) feet or more from the point where such timbers bridges, towers or fixtures rests upon, is affixed to, or is inserted in the ground, shall be paid at double (2X) the basic rate while engaged upon such work. The minimum pay for performing the work shall be one (1) hour at the above rate.

22. PAY DAYS

- 22.1. Employees shall be paid bi-weekly for the period covering the fourteen (14) day period from Thursday to Wednesday inclusive.
- 22.2. Pay cheques shall be deposited by direct deposit bi-weekly on Thursday morning of the following week to the financial institution of individual employees' choice.
- 22.3. The City may delay a pay day by one (1) day for a specific pay period by giving three (3) months notice to the Union and the employees.

23. GROUP HEALTH AND INSURANCE COVERAGE

- 23.1. The City agrees to maintain group Health and insurance plans as listed below, subject to various conditions and cost sharing as indicated.
 - 23.1.1. Extended Health Care: All permanent employees and temporary employees with twelve (12) months of continuous employment with the City, and their dependents shall participate in the plan. The City shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the required premium. The plan shall pay ninety percent (90%) of prescription drugs plus provide vision care.
 - 23.1.2. Dental Plan: All permanent employees and temporary employees with eighteen (18) months of continuous employment with the City, and their dependents shall participate in

the plan. The City shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the required premium. The plan shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of basic services, eighty percent (80%) of periodontics, fifty percent (50%) of extensive dentistry and fifty percent (50%) of orthodontics work.

- 23.1.3. Employee Assistance Program: All permanent employees and temporary employees with eighteen (18) months of continuous service with the City shall participate in a plan. The City shall pay twenty percent (20%) and the employee eighty percent (80%) of the required premium.
- 23.1.4. Life Insurance: All permanent employees and temporary employees with eighteen (18) months of continuous employment with the City to participate in the plan. The City shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the required premium. The plan shall provide life insurance benefits in the amount of two (2) times annual salary with a minimum coverage of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) for any employee plus accidental death and dismemberment and dependent life insurance coverage.
- 23.1.5. Long Term Disability Insurance: All permanent employees and temporary employees with eighteen (18) months of continuous employment with the City shall participate in the plan. The premiums shall be paid one hundred percent (100%) by the employee.

For the first six (6) months that an employee is eligible to receive long-term disability benefits, the City shall pay the full amount of the required premiums to ensure continuation of all group health and insurance benefits which the employee carried at the time of commencement of long-term disability, subject to the terms of individual group policies. If the employee has not returned to work after the six (6) month period from the commencement of long-term disability, he shall be required to pay the full premium (both the City and the employee share) for those group health and insurance benefits he chooses to participate in.

- 23.1.6. Pension Plan: All permanent employees and temporary employees with eighteen (18) months of continuous service with the City shall be enrolled into the Local Authorities Pension Plan.
- 23.1.7. A Health Spending Account of seven hundred fifty dollars (\$750) for family coverage, or three hundred and seventy-five dollars (\$375) for single coverage, per year.
- 23.2. For the purposes of Article 23.1, continuous employment shall mean any period(s) of employment with the City, including any outside of the bargaining unit, without a break in service of thirty (30) days or more.
- 23.3. Where, at the time of appointment, it is anticipated that a temporary employee will be employed for a period greater than twelve (12) continuous months then the employee shall be entitled to enroll in the extended health care plan and dental plan immediately.
- 23.4. Where, at the time of appointment, it is anticipated that a temporary employee will be employed for a period greater than eighteen (18) continuous months then the employee shall be entitled to enroll in all benefits immediately.

- 23.5. Participation in, or withdrawal from, the various group plans as described above shall be subject to the terms and conditions as set out by the third-party carriers for the various insurance, benefit, and pension plans.
- 23.6. Any changes in the present coverage which would in any way lessen the present benefits shall first be ratified by the Union, unless changes are beyond the control of the City.
- 23.7. Notwithstanding the above, it is agreed that changes to the present group health and insurance plans pertaining to benefits may be made, subject to further negotiations and mutual acceptance by the City and the Union during the life of this Agreement.
- 23.8. The Union shall appoint two members to a Health and Insurance Committee who shall meet with the City at least twice a year. The purpose of this Committee is to gather input from the membership and to create an avenue to communicate concerns and suggest changes from the Union membership to City Management in regard to the group health and insurance benefits. Representation from the Union on the Group Benefits Team shall come directly from the Health and Insurance Committee.

24. DEATH AND DISABILITY COVERAGE

- 24.1. If an employee is killed while performing duties related to his employment and as a result of hazards such as, but not necessarily limited to electrocution, electrical fire, free fall, asphyxiation, explosion, collapse/cave in, falling equipment, or vehicular impact while performing duties at a job site, his widow shall be paid the full pay which such employee would have been paid under this, and subsequent Agreements had he not been killed, such payment to continue until such time the widow remarries or enters into a common-law relationship as defined in Worker's Compensation Act, or until the deceased would have been entitled to full pension retirement had he not been killed, whichever date shall first occur.
 - 24.1.1. If such employee is survived by dependent children, and his widow dies, remarries, or enters into a common-law relationship as defined in the Worker's Compensation Act, the City shall pay a portion of the employee's salary which would have been paid under this and subsequent Agreements had he not been killed for the benefit of such dependent children up to a maximum of sixty-five percent (65%) of the deceased employee's salary (twenty percent (20%) for the benefit of the first dependent child and fifteen percent (15%) for each dependent child thereafter) up to the said maximum of sixty-five percent (65%) of the deceased employee's salary. Such payment to be paid until such time as the recipient dependent child ceases to be in full time attendance at an accredited educational institute or attains the age of twenty-five (25) years, whichever first occurs.
 - 24.1.2. The dependent child benefit shall be paid directly to the dependent child upon reaching the age of eighteen (18) years.
 - 24.1.3. It is further agreed that any Worker's Compensation Pension or other pension annuity not personally contracted for by the deceased or his widow or family, that is paid by reason of the employee's death, shall, upon being paid, be paid or assigned to the City.
- 24.2. If an employee is permanently disabled while performing duties related to his employment and as a result of hazards such as, but not necessarily limited to electrocution, electrical fire, free fall, asphyxiation, explosion, collapse/cave in, falling equipment, or vehicular impact while performing

duties at a job site, and can no longer be employed in his pre-disability occupation, he shall be paid his full pay under the terms of this and subsequent Agreements as if his employment had not terminated until such time as the employee would be entitled to full pension retirement. However, if an employee can be gainfully employed and if his remuneration there from is less than he would be entitled to receive under this and subsequent Agreements, such amount together with any Worker's Compensation Pension or other pension or annuity that has not been personally contracted for by the employee or his family, shall be paid, assigned or delivered to the City. If such disabled employee can be gainfully employed and receives remuneration that is in excess of what he would be entitled to be paid under this and subsequent Agreements, the responsibility of the City under this clause shall cease.

- 24.3. The amount of "full pay" referred to in Articles 24.1 and 24.2 shall be determined by the parties to this Agreement, and in making that determination, the regular pay plus overtime and on-call of the employee involved shall be reduced by the normal deductions for Canada Pension Plan, Income Tax according to the employee's exemptions or, in the case of a deceased employee, according to his widow's exemptions, and such other deductions as the parties may determine.
- 24.4. The term "full pension retirement" referred to in Articles 24.1 and 24.2 shall mean where an employee is entitled to receive a pension by obtaining the eighty-five (85) factor or at age sixty-five (65) whichever comes first.

25. LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- 25.1. Any employee desiring a leave of absence must apply to the Director in writing through his Supervisor. Should his application be refused, he shall have the right to appeal to the City Grievance Committee through the proper officials of his Union. The decision of the City Grievance Committee shall be final and shall be communicated to the Union in writing.
- 25.2. When it is necessary for an employee to make application for leave of absence to perform duties of any office in his local Union or of the parent Union, such request shall have priority over all other applications. The application must be made in writing through the Union to the Director and if refused by him, then to the City Grievance Committee. The City agrees, if at all possible to grant the request. The decision of the City Grievance Committee shall be final and shall be communicated to the Union in writing. During the absence of any employee on special work of this nature, such employee shall retain his seniority.
- 25.3. Any employee who is appointed as a delegate to any convention held in connection with any affairs of the Union, or any other Union activity, where the City does not absorb the cost of same, shall be granted a leave of absence and his regular pay shall carry on in the usual manner. The Union shall be billed the amount of pay so received by the employee for his leave of absence and such fringe benefit costs (prorated) as may be appropriate. Payment shall be made by the Union upon receipt of such billing. No more than two (2) employees shall be allowed away at any one time. The Union shall, whenever possible, give the City at least sixty (60) days notice of any requested leave.
- 25.4. A leave of absence granted for any other reasons shall be without pay; and for leave of absence for any period in excess of two (2) weeks, sickness allowance, vacation and seniority shall be suspended. In addition, the employee shall be required to pay to the City the full amount of premiums for all group health and insurance benefits, which the employee carried at the commencement of the leave of absence, including both the City and the employee shares. If the

- employee does not wish to retain all benefits and submit the full premiums in advance, the only alternative available shall be to cancel all coverage during this period of leave.
- 25.5. Where an employee overstays his leave of absence without permission from the Director, he shall automatically forfeit his position with the City.

26. MATERNITY LEAVE

- 26.1. Maternity leave shall be provided to eligible employees as outlined in the Alberta Employment Standards Code.
- 26.2. Health-related maternity leave shall be subject to the conditions of normal sick leave provisions and shall include periods prior to and following the date of delivery.
- 26.3. During the health-related portion of maternity leave, an employee in receipt of maternity leave benefits shall, upon application supported by proper medical documentation, be paid by the City the difference between her regular pay and her Employment Insurance benefits so that the two combined equal ninety-five percent (95%) of her regular pay. The employee shall be entitled to wage top-up equal to the amount of sick days in her sick bank at the time of commencement of maternity leave. This entitlement shall not reduce the amount of sick days in the employee's bank and said days shall be available to the employee upon return to employment.
- 26.4. During the period of voluntary Maternity Leave, the employee shall be required to pay the full premium (both the City and employee share) for those health and insurance benefits the employee chooses to participate in. This payment shall be made by post-dated cheques prior to the date of expected commencement of maternity leave. Upon return to employment, the employee shall be fully enrolled in the previously held group health and insurance benefit plans and there shall be no required waiting periods or medical examination except for optional life insurance.
- 26.5. Employees returning from maternity leave shall, in normal circumstances, be reinstated in the same position and rate of pay as was in effect at the commencement of maternity leave. Upon return to employment, sick leave, vacation entitlement, and seniority shall accumulate during the period of maternity leave.

27. PARENTAL LEAVE

- 27.1. Parental leave shall be provided to eligible employees as outlined in the Alberta Employment Standards Code.
- 27.2. During the period of parental leave, the employee shall be required to pay the full premium (both the City and employee share) for those group health and insurance benefits the employee chooses to participate in. This payment shall be made in advance or by post-dated cheques prior to the date of expected commencement of parental leave. Upon return to employment, the employee shall be fully enrolled in the previously held group health and insurance benefit plans and there shall be no required waiting periods or medical examination except for optional life insurance.
- 27.3. Upon return to employment, the employee shall be reinstated to the classification occupied at the time that parental leave commenced and provided the employee returns to work he shall be credited with full seniority and sick leave accumulations for the period of leave.

28. JURY DUTY

28.1. Where an employee is subpoenaed as a witness in a case in which the City has an interest; or for jury duty; or as a crown witness; he shall not suffer any loss of regular pay while so serving. However, he shall turn over to the City the amount of witness fees less expenses.

29. SICK LEAVE

- 29.1. The sick leave plan and the short-term disability plan are income protection insurance benefits provided by the City when an employee is unable to work due to non-occupational illness and/or injury. Each permanent employee, and temporary employees with two thousand (2,000) regular hours paid with the City, shall accumulate sick leave at the rate of 0.0692 hours for each regular hour paid to a maximum of sixteen hundred (1600) hours.
 - 29.1.1. Where, at the time of appointment, it is anticipated that a temporary employee will be employed for a period greater than twelve (12) continuous months then the employee shall begin to accrue sick leave from the date of appointment.
 - 29.1.2. In situations where a permanent employee returns to work from short-term or long-term disability and he has not accrued sick time, the City agrees to provide the employee with a one (1) year advance of sick leave accrual. Further sick leave accrual shall commence after one (1) year has passed from the date of the employee's return to work.
- 29.2. When an employee is unable to perform the duties of his position or is unable to perform modified work, he shall receive sick leave at his basic rate of pay provided he has sufficient accumulated sick leave to cover such absence. Sick leave taken shall be deducted from the employee's total accumulated sick leave on an hourly basis.
 - 29.2.1. When an employee is making a request for sick leave in excess of three (3) consecutive working days, he may be required to provide satisfactory proof of illness and/or injury to the City. The City shall cover associated costs.
 - 29.2.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City reserves the right to request satisfactory proof of illness and/or injury for just and reasonable cause at any time when a claim for sick pay is being made. Where possible, and employee must be advised in writing prior to, or at the time of, making request for sick leave.
 - 29.2.3. In the event that a permanent employee does not have sufficient accumulated sick leave to cover all or part of his absence from work, he shall receive seventy percent (70%) of his basic rate of pay from the short-term disability plan from the thirty-first (31st) day of disability or the day he exhausts his accumulated sick leave, whichever day is latest. Payment from the short-term disability plan shall continue to the three hundred and sixty-fifth (365th) day of disability. The employee shall not accrue sick leave while receiving short-term disability benefits. All other group health and insurance benefits shall remain in effect while the employee is in receipt of short-term disability benefits.
 - 29.2.3.1. If an employee does not have sufficient accumulate sick leave or vacation to cover the first thirty (30) days of his absence from work, he shall be granted a leave of absence. All group health and insurance benefits shall remain in effect for the duration of the leave.

- 29.2.3.2. If an employee in receipt of sick leave and/or short-term disability returns to regular duties and a recurrence of the same illness and/or injury occurs within (30) days, the employee shall again be paid from the sick leave plan or the short-term disability plan and continue the long-term disability elimination period.
- 29.3. Employees in receipt of sick leave and/or short-term disability must apply for long-term disability prior to the expiration of the long-term disability plan elimination period.
- 29.4. Employees in receipt of long-term disability benefits shall not be eligible to claim for paid sick leave during the period for which they receive payment under the long-term disability plan.

30. MODIFIED WORK PROGRAM

30.1. It is to the benefit of all who are employed by the City to support modified work programs for employees who are sick, injured or disabled. Therefore, the parties agree that the City shall endeavor to provide alternate or modified work for employees who are sick, injured, or disabled and that there shall be no reduction in regular earnings of any other employees as a result of any modified or alternate work program and no permanent employee shall be subject to layoff as a result of this work program. It is further understood that this program is applicable to members and positions of this bargaining unit only.

31. SPECIAL LEAVE

- 31.1. An employee who requires time off work may be granted Special Leave upon approval of his Supervisor. The maximum leave available under this Article is forty (40) hours per calendar year. The circumstances under which Special Leave may be approved are subject to Article 31.2 and subject to the corresponding yearly maximum of regularly scheduled hours as follows:
 - 31.1.1. Leave required for illness with the employee's family, up to forty (40) hours.
 - 31.1.2. Leave required for personal reasons, up to the equivalent of two (2) regularly scheduled working days.
- 31.2. For the purposes of determining eligibility for Special Leave under Article 31.1, the following shall apply:
 - 31.2.1. An Employee who requires time off work; 1) to provide immediate temporary care to the employee's spouse, dependent child, or parent who has a critical illness or requires emergency care; or 2) to attend to the needs of a dependent child who has an illness; or 3) to attend a medical/dental appointment with the employee's spouse, a dependent child or elderly parent, shall, upon approval, be granted leave without loss of regular pay for a period of up to forty (40) hours.
 - 31.2.2. An Employee who is active as of January 1st of any year and who requires time off work for personal reasons shall, upon approval, be granted leave without loss of regular pay for a period of up to the equivalent of two (2) regularly scheduled working days.

- 31.2.2.1. Requests for personal leave are subject to operational requirements and can only be taken after the employee has taken his statutorily required basic annual vacation entitlement.
- 31.2.2.2. Personal leave must be taken in full day increments.
- 31.3. The maximum annual leave specified for each circumstance requiring special leave shall not be exceeded.

32. WORKER'S COMPENSATION

- 32.1. If any permanent employee is injured under conditions which entitle him to compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act, such employee shall be paid at the regular rate for which he was paid before such injury, for two (2) pay periods, provided that he assigns to the City, and causes to be paid and the City receives all benefits received by him from the Worker's Compensation Board. If the employee continues on compensation for more than two (2) pay periods, then the employee shall receive ninety percent (90%) of earnings for the balance of compensation on that claim.
- 32.2. In such cases, the City reserves the right to terminate at any time at their discretion the benefits received under this clause. Where an employee feels that he has been unjustly terminated from benefits received, he may take his grievance to the Grievance Procedure.
- 32.3. If any temporary employee is injured under conditions which entitle him to compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act, such employee shall receive benefits directly from the Worker's Compensation Board. Such employee shall not receive any pay from the City.
 - 32.3.1. Where, at the time of appointment, it is anticipated that a temporary employee will be employed for a period greater than twelve (12) continuous months then the employee shall be eligible to receive pay as outlined in Article 32.1.

33. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- 33.1. Bereavement leave with regular pay, of up to and including three (3) working days, shall be granted upon request, to all employees in the event of the death of a member of the employee's immediate family.
 - 33.1.1. Immediate family shall include the employee's current spouse, child, step-child, grandchild, parent, step-parent, grandparent, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandparent-in-law, ward, or a relative who is a member of the employee's household.
 - 33.1.2. Spouse shall also include any common law relationship greater than one (1) year and is on record with the Human Resources Department of the City.
- 33.2. Bereavement leave with regular pay shall be extended by an additional two (2) working days, upon request, in the event of the death of an employee's spouse, child or parent. Bereavement leave shall also be extended by an additional two (2) days if the employee is required to travel in excess of four hundred and fifty (450) kilometers one way from his residence in order to attend the funeral of an immediate family member.

- 33.3. Employees shall be allowed time off without pay to attend the funeral of anyone not listed in Article 33.1.
- 33.4. Unless otherwise approved by the Supervisor at the time of death, bereavement leave must be taken within fourteen (14) days from the date of the death.
- 33.5. When an employee qualifies for bereavement leave during his period of vacation, there shall be no deduction from vacation credits for such absence.

34. SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES

- 34.1. Where required by the applicable provincial safety legislation or where working conditions warrant the wearing of protective clothing and/or footwear and the use of protective tools and equipment, the City shall provide protective clothing, footwear allowance, tools and/or equipment as follows:
 - 34.1.1. Costs for the purchase or repair of approved safety footwear shall be reimbursed, upon presentation of a receipt, up to a maximum of two hundred and fifty dollars (\$250.00) per year. In the event an employee does not use his full reimbursement in any one year, he may carry the remaining portion into the next year to a maximum of five hundred dollars (\$500.00).
 - 34.1.2. Temporary employees hired by the City in the Utility Helper classification shall be provided, upon initial employment with the City and presentation of a receipt, with a maximum reimbursement of seventy-five dollars (\$75.00), and an additional seventy-five dollars (\$75.00) thereafter on June 1st in each subsequent year that the employee is recalled and is actively working.
 - 34.1.3. Approved fire-resistant outerwear shall be provided by the City where required, and shall be replaced when damaged or worn beyond repair. The City may accept an employee's request to have outerwear cleaned in extenuating circumstances.
 - 34.1.4. The tools and equipment as laid out in the established tool lists, or in the applicable provincial safety legislation, shall be provided by the City.

35. JOINT SAFETY COMMITTEE

35.1. A joint health and safety committee shall be established and shall meet as needed for the purposes of jointly considering, monitoring, inspecting, investigating, reviewing and improving health and safety conditions and practices in the workplace.

36. LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 36.1. When temporary layoffs become necessary, permanent employees shall be retained on the basis of seniority, qualifications and ability for the work available. When qualifications and ability are equal, seniority shall prevail.
- 36.2. A permanent employee who is to be laid off shall be given thirty (30) days notice in writing or thirty (30) days pay in lieu of notice.

36.3. A permanent employee on temporary layoff shall be recalled upon the basis of seniority, qualifications and ability for the work available. When qualifications and ability are equal, seniority shall prevail. An employee subject to recall shall be notified in writing and if he does not report to work within five (5) working days of said notification, his services shall be regarded as terminated. An employee who has not been recalled within twelve (12) months shall be regarded as terminated and will be entitled to severance pay pursuant to Article 37.

37. WORKFORCE REDUCTION

- 37.1. When the City determines that it is necessary to permanently reduce the workforce and layoffs become necessary, permanent employees shall be retained on the basis of seniority, qualifications, and ability for the work available. When qualifications and ability are equal, seniority shall prevail.
- 37.2. A permanent employee who is laid off shall receive severance pay in a lump-sum amount equivalent to two (2) weeks of regular pay, plus two and one half (2.5) weeks of regular pay for each full year of continuous employment, all to a maximum of fifty-two (52) weeks of pay.
 - 37.2.1. Partial years of continuous employment shall be calculated on a pro-rated basis.
 - 37.2.2. Severance pay provided shall be deemed to be inclusive of any and all legislative requirements for termination notice.
 - 37.2.3. Prior to receiving severance pay pursuant to the Article, the City shall require a signed release from the affected employee and the Union.

38. RESIGNATION, DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL

- 38.1. Each employee shall give his Supervisor two (2) weeks notice of his intent to sever his employment.
- 38.2. When the City determines that an investigative meeting is necessary to determine whether or not disciplinary action may be taken against an employee, the employee shall have the right to have a Union representative present.
- 38.3. Whenever an employee is disciplined, and the discipline is intended to be a matter of management record, the employee shall have the right to have a Union representative present when the discipline is issued. Written particulars of the discipline shall be given to the employee and a copy shall be provided to the Union.
- 38.4. Disciplinary warnings and/or suspensions shall be removed from the management record after the employee has maintained a clear record with no other disciplinary warning or suspensions for twenty-four (24) months of active duty.
- 38.5. Any employee wishing to appeal against his dismissal must do so through the proper officials of the Union and notice of such appeal must be in the hands of the City Grievance Committee not later than fifteen (15) days from the date of his dismissal. Notwithstanding the above stated time limits, dismissals shall come under the grievance procedure contained in this Agreement commencing at the third (3rd) step and all other conditions of the grievance procedure including arbitration shall apply.

39. GRIEVANCES

- 39.1. Should a dispute arise between the parties to, or persons bound by this agreement as to the interpretation, application, operation or contravention or alleged contravention of this agreement, the parties agree to settle the dispute through the grievance procedure as set out herein:
 - 39.1.1. Step 1: A meeting of the parties shall be held within ten (10) days of the filing of the grievance with his Supervisor to share information, to discuss and clarify the issue(s)/facts and to clarify the remedy sought by the grievor. The Supervisor shall communicate his decision in writing within ten (10) days of said meeting. If a settlement of the grievance is not reached, the Union may refer the matter to the next step by notifying Human Resources in writing within ten (10) days of the Supervisor's decision.
 - 39.1.2. Step 2: A meeting of the parties shall be held within fourteen (14) days to present the grievance to the Director. The decision of the Director shall be communicated to the Union in writing within fourteen (14) days of said meeting. If a settlement of the grievance is not reached, the Union may refer the matter to the next step by notifying Human Resources in writing within fourteen (14) days of the Director's decision.
 - 39.1.3. Step 3: A meeting of the parties shall be held within (40) days to present the grievance to the City Grievance Committee. The decision of the City Grievance Committee shall be communicated to the Union in writing within fourteen (14) days of said meeting. If a settlement of the grievance is not reached, the Union may refer the matter to the next step by notifying Human Resources in writing within (30) days of the City Grievance Committee's decision.
 - 39.1.4. Step 4: An Arbitration Board shall be established to hear the grievance as follows:
 - 39.1.4.1. The City and the Union shall each appoint one (1) member to represent the respective parties at the Board hearing. The representatives so appointed shall appoint a chairman, but failing to agree on a selection, they shall request the Director of Mediation Services for the Province of Alberta to select a chairman.
 - 39.1.4.2. The Board's decision shall be final and binding on both parties.
 - 39.1.4.3. Each party to the difference shall bear the expense of its respective nominee to the Arbitration Board. The expense, if any, of the chairman of the Arbitration Board shall be shared equally between the parties.
 - 39.1.4.4. The parties may mutually agree to a single arbitrator to hear the grievance. The single arbitrator must be acceptable to both parties.
- 39.2. No grievance shall be considered where circumstances giving rise to such grievance should reasonably have been known to the employee more than thirty (30) days prior to the first filing of the grievance.
- 39.3. Longer periods of time for consideration of grievances may be given at any step in the procedure, or any step may be by-passed if mutually agreeable.

39.4. An employee who has filed a grievance has the right to attend any or all steps of the g procedure.						
Signed this day of, 2024 on behalf of the City of Medicine Hat,	Signed this day of, 2024 on behalf of IBEW Local Union 254,					
Mayor	Business Manager					
City Clerk	Assistant Business Manager					

January 1, 2024						
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Electric Distribution Inspector	69.20					
Electrical Technologist	43.01	47.65	52.28	56.91	61.54	66.17
GIS Analyst (Electric Distribution)	37.26	41.27	45.28	49.29	53.31	57.32
Groundman Operator	31.69	36.22	40.75	45.27		
Journeyman Electrician (Facilities)	34.76	37.66	43.45	49.25	57.94	60.99
Journeyman Communication Technician	34.76	37.66	43.45	49.25	57.94	60.99
Journeyman Power Line Technician	37.57	40.70	46.96	53.22	62.61	65.91
Journeyman Power Systems Electrician	37.57	40.70	46.96	53.22	62.61	65.91
Metering Foreman	72.50					
Operations Assistant	36.12	39.06	42.00			
Operations Foreman	72.50					
Scheduler	49.10	52.80				
Senior Data Analyst	43.01	47.65	52.28	56.91	61.54	66.17
Senior GIS Analyst (Enterprise)	43.01	47.65	52.28	56.91	61.54	66.17
Stations Foreman	72.50					
System Control Foreman	72.50					
System Control Operator	62.61	65.91	69.20			
Traffic & Lighting Foreman	72.50					
Utility Helper	28.10	30.22				
Work Methods Specialist	72.50					

January 1, 2025						
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Electric Distribution Inspector	70.75					
Electrical Technologist	43.98	48.72	53.45	58.19	62.93	67.66
GIS Analyst (Electric Distribution)	38.09	42.20	46.30	50.40	54.51	58.61
Groundman Operator	32.41	37.03	41.66	46.29		
Journeyman Electrician (Facilities)	35.55	38.51	44.43	50.36	59.24	62.36
Journeyman Communication Technician	35.55	38.51	44.43	50.36	59.24	62.36
Journeyman Power Line Technician	38.41	41.61	48.02	54.42	64.02	67.39
Journeyman Power Systems Electrician	38.41	41.61	48.02	54.42	64.02	67.39
Metering Foreman	74.13					
Operations Assistant	36.94	39.94	42.95			
Operations Foreman	74.13					
Scheduler	50.21	53.99				
Senior Data Analyst	43.98	48.72	53.45	58.19	62.93	67.66
Senior GIS Analyst (Enterprise)	43.98	48.72	53.45	58.19	62.93	67.66
Stations Foreman	74.13					
System Control Foreman	74.13					
System Control Operator	64.02	67.39	70.76			
Traffic & Lighting Foreman	74.13					
Utility Helper	28.73	30.90				
Work Methods Specialist	74.13					

January 1, 2026						
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Electric Distribution Inspector	72.17					
Electrical Technologist	44.86	49.69	54.52	59.35	64.19	69.02
GIS Analyst (Electric Distribution)	38.86	43.04	47.23	51.41	55.60	59.78
Groundman Operator	33.05	37.78	42.50	47.22		
Journeyman Electrician (Facilities)	36.26	39.28	45.32	51.36	60.43	63.61
Journeyman Communication Technician	36.26	39.28	45.32	51.36	60.43	63.61
Journeyman Power Line Technician	39.18	42.45	48.98	55.51	65.30	68.74
Journeyman Power Systems Electrician	39.18	42.45	48.98	55.51	65.30	68.74
Metering Foreman	75.61					
Operations Assistant	37.68	40.74	43.81			
Operations Foreman	75.61					
Scheduler	51.21	55.07				
Senior Data Analyst	44.86	49.69	54.52	59.35	64.19	69.02
Senior GIS Analyst (Enterprise)	44.86	49.69	54.52	59.35	64.19	69.02
Stations Foreman	75.61					
System Control Foreman	75.61					
System Control Operator	65.30	68.74	72.18			
Traffic & Lighting Foreman	75.61					
Utility Helper	29.31	31.51				
Work Methods Specialist	75.61					

January 1, 2027						
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Electric Distribution Inspector	73.97					
Electrical Technologist	45.98	50.93	55.89	60.84	65.79	70.74
GIS Analyst (Electric Distribution)	39.83	44.12	48.41	52.70	56.99	61.27
Groundman Operator	33.88	38.72	43.56	48.40		
Journeyman Electrician (Facilities)	37.16	40.26	46.45	52.65	61.94	65.20
Journeyman Communication Technician	37.16	40.26	46.45	52.65	61.94	65.20
Journeyman Power Line Technician	40.16	43.51	50.20	56.89	66.93	70.46
Journeyman Power Systems Electrician	40.16	43.51	50.20	56.89	66.93	70.46
Metering Foreman	77.50					
Operations Assistant	38.62	41.76	44.90			
Operations Foreman	77.50					
Scheduler	52.49	56.44				
Senior Data Analyst	45.98	50.93	55.89	60.84	65.79	70.74
Senior GIS Analyst (Enterprise)	45.98	50.93	55.89	60.84	65.79	70.74
Stations Foreman	77.50					
System Control Foreman	77.50					
System Control Operator	66.93	70.46	73.98			
Traffic & Lighting Foreman	77.50					
Utility Helper	30.04	32.30				
Work Methods Specialist	77.50					

Electrical '	echnologist/GIS Analyst/Senior GIS Analyst/Senior Data Analyst
Step 1	The step 1 rate of pay is the start rate and is calculated at 65% of the job rate. Progression to the step 2 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 1 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 2	The step 2 rate of pay is calculated at 72% of the job rate. Progression to the step 3 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 2 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 3	The step 3 rate of pay is calculated at 79% of the job rate. Progression to the step 4 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 3 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 4	The step 4 rate of pay is calculated at 86% of the job rate. Progression to the step 5 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 4 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 5	The step 5 rate of pay is calculated at 93% of the job rate. Progression to the step 6 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 5 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 6	Job rate.
Groundma	n Operator
Step 1	The step 1 rate of pay is the start rate and is calculated at 70% of the job rate. Progression to the step 2 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 1 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 2	The step 2 rate of pay is calculated at 80% of the job rate. Progression to the step 3 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 2 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 3	The step 3 rate of pay is calculated at 90% of the job rate. Progression to the step 4 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 3 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 4	Job rate.
Journeym	
Step 1	The step 1 rate of pay is calculated at 60% of the step 5 rate and is applicable to first year apprentices. Progression to the step 2 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, hours worked as prescribed by Alberta Apprenticeship & Industry Training and completion of first period technical training.
Step 2	The step 2 rate of pay is calculated at 65% of the step 5 rate and is applicable to second year apprentices. Progression to the step 3 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, hours worked as prescribed by Alberta Apprenticeship & Industry Training and completion of second period technical training.
Step 3	The step 3 rate of pay is calculated at 75% of the step 5 rate and is applicable to third year apprentices. Progression to the step 4 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, hours worked as prescribed by Alberta Apprenticeship & Industry Training and completion of third period technical training.
Step 4	The step 4 rate of pay is calculated at 85% of the step 5 rate and is applicable to fourth year apprentices. Progression to the step 5 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, hours worked as prescribed by Alberta Apprenticeship & Industry Training, completion of fourth period technical training and successful completion of provincial Journeyman examinations.
Step 5	The step 5 rate of pay is the Journeyman start rate and is calculated at 95% of the job rate. Progression to the step 6 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 5 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 6	Job rate.
-	

System Co	introl Operator
Step 1	The step 1 rate of pay is equivalent to the Journeyman Power Line Technician step 5 rate of pay. Progression to the step 2 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at the step 1 rate of pay and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 2	The step 2 rate of pay is equivalent to the Journeyman Power Line Technician step 6 rate of pay. Progression to the step 3 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at the step 2 rate of pay and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job
Step 3	The step 3 rate of pay is calculated at 105% of the step 2 rate of pay.
Scheduler	
Step 1	The step 1 rate of pay is the start rate and is calculated at 93% of the job rate. Progression to the step 2 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 1 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 2	Job rate.
Operation	s Assistant
Step 1	The step 1 rate of pay is the start rate and is calculated at 86% of the job rate. Progression to the step 2 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 1 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 2	The step 2 rate of pay is calculated at 93% of the job rate. Progression to the step 3 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 2 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 3	Job rate.
Utility Hel	per
Step 1	The step 1 rate of pay is the start rate and is calculated at 93% of the job rate. This rate shall be applied to temporary employees working in this classification. Progression to the step 2 rate of pay shall be based on satisfactory performance, completion of 2080 regular hours paid at step 1 and the possession of the necessary knowledge, abilities, skills and training required in the performance of the job.
Step 2	Job rate.
NOTE APP	LYING TO ALL CLASSIFICATIONS

When hiring externally to fill any vacancy in any classification in Appendix I, the City reserves the right to place an incumbent at a step in the wage schedule commensurate with the incumbent's qualifications and experience.

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF MEDICINE HAT

AND

LOCAL UNION 254 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS (Electric Distribution)

RE: CONTR	RACTING OUT
The City agrees to notify the Union when the City otherwise been performed by a bargaining unit emplo	utilizes contractors to perform work that would havoyee.
Signed this day of, 2024 on behalf of the City of Medicine Hat,	Signed this day of, 2024 on behalf of IBEW Local Union 254,
Mayor	Business Manager
City Clerk	Assistant Business Manager

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF MEDICINE HAT

AND

LOCAL UNION 254 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS (ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION)

RE: FIELD OPERATIONS LEAD HANDS

The parties to the collective agreement have come to the following understanding with respect to the use of Lead Hands in the Electric Field Operations section of the Utility Distribution Systems Department.

From time to time the City may require a fully qualified Journeyman Power Line Technician to supervise and work with a crew of at least two (2) other Journeyman Power Line Technicians, Journeyman Power Line Technician Apprentices and/or Groundmen. In such circumstances, a Distribution Operations Foreman may appoint a Journeyman to act as a Lead Hand.

A Journeyman who is required by the City to assume the duties of a Lead Hand will receive a basic rate of pay that is five percent (5%) above the Journeyman Power Line Technician basic rate of pay. When a Journeyman is appointed as a Lead Hand, the Lead Hand basic rate of pay will apply to regular hours of work and/or hours spent working planned overtime pursuant to Article 14. The Lead Hand rate will not apply to the designated Journeyman on the weekly standby rotation, for any callout hours worked pursuant to Article 15, or for any hours worked in emergency response situations.

Signed this day of, 2024 or behalf of the City of Medicine Hat,	n Signed this day of, 2024 on behalf of IBEW Local Union 254,
Mayor	Business Manager
City Clerk	Assistant Business Manager

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF MEDICINE HAT

AND

LOCAL UNION 254 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS (FLECTRIC DISTRIBUTION)

		(LLECTRIC D	Nothing Holy
		RE: DAILY S	STANDY RATE
The Cit	y and	d the Union have agreed to establish a dail	y standby rate as follows:
1.	Col rea Ma	lective Agreement is unable to fulfill his ched the maximum allowable hours or an	ed to remain on standby pursuant to Article 16.1 of the weekly standby obligations because of illness, having by other reason as approved by the Electric Operations and Manager (or designate) may assign another employees of the weekly standby rotation.
2.		these circumstances, the weekly standby sis, as follows:	premium will be paid to affected employees on a daily
	a)	Two (2) hours at the employee's basic rawork day.	ate of pay, at straight time, on each regularly scheduled
	b)	Two and one-half (2 ½) hours at the e regularly scheduled day off.	mployee's basic rate of pay, at straight time, for each
	c)	Four (4) hours at the employee's basic ra	te of pay, at straight time, for each general holiday.
3.	one		on standby is be replaced at any time between 8:00 a.m. of having reached the maximum allowable hours, both for that period.
-	_	day of, 2024 on e City of Medicine Hat,	Signed this day of, 2024 on behalf of IBEW Local Union 254,
 Mayor			Business Manager

Assistant Business Manager

City Clerk

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF MEDICINE HAT AND

LOCAL UNION 254 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS (ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION)

RE: HOURS OF WORK AVERAGING ARRANGEMENT

The City and the Union agree, subject to the terms and conditions outlined below, to implement an hours of work averaging arrangement modifying the regular hours of work set out in Article 13 of the collective agreement for employees in the following classifications: Electrical Technologist, GIS Analyst (Electric Distribution), Journeyman Electronics Communications Technician, Operations Technical Assistant, Senior GIS Analyst (Enterprise).

- 1) The regular hours of work shall average forty (40) hours per week over a two-week cycle.
- 2) The start and finish times on each day of the cycle shall be established between 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., with nine (9) hour days scheduled Monday to Thursday, and an eight (8) hour day scheduled on the first Friday. The second Friday is the earned day off.
- 3) The City may advance or delay the established start and finish times by one (1) hour or reschedule the earned day off within the designated pay cycle by providing employees with twenty-four (24) hours written notice.
- 4) Any hours worked in excess of the established daily hours of work shall be paid in accordance with overtime provisions of the collective agreement.
- 5) An employee through mutual agreement with their Manager may revert to the hours of work defined in Article 13 of the collective agreement.
- 6) If either Party to this agreement decides to revert to the hours of work defined in Article 13 of the collective agreement, it will serve the other Party with notice of its' intent to do so, in writing, at least thirty (30) days in advance of the anticipated change.

Signed this day of, behalf of the City of Medicine Hat,	2024 on	Signed this day of behalf of IBEW Local Union 254,	, 2024 or
Mayor		Business Manager	
City Clerk		Assistant Business Manager	

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF MEDICINE HAT

AND

LOCAL UNION 254 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS (ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION)

RE: HOURS OF WORK AVERAGING ARRANGEMENT

The City and the Union agree, subject to the terms and conditions outlined below, to implement an hours of work averaging arrangement modifying the shift schedule and/or the regular hours of work defined in Article 13 of the collective agreement for employees in the Senior Data Analyst classification:

- 1) The regular hours of work shall average forty (40) hours per week over a four-week cycle based on 8.5 hour days Monday to Thursday, with 8.0 hours on Fridays. The fourth Friday is the earned off day. Affected employees are scheduled Monday to Friday.
- 2) The start time on each day of the cycle shall be established at 7:00 a.m.
- 3) Any hours worked in excess of the established daily hours of work shall be paid in accordance with overtime provisions of the collective agreement.
- 4) Established starting and finishing times associated with the averaging arrangement schedule may be advanced or delayed by one (1) hour with mutual agreement between the City and Union.
- 5) Sick days, vacation days and General Holidays (except for the floater which is placed into the vacation bank as eight (8) hours) will be paid based on the number of hours scheduled for each specific day.
- 6) If either Party to this agreement decides to revert to the hours of work defined in Article 13.1 of the collective agreement, it will serve the other Party with notice of its' intent to do so, in writing, at least thirty (30) days in advance of the anticipated change.

Signed this day of, 2024 on behalf of the City of Medicine Hat,	24 on Signed this day of, 2024 or behalf of IBEW Local Union 254,
Mayor	Business Manager
City Clerk	Assistant Business Manager

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF MEDICINE HAT AND

LOCAL UNION 254 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS (ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION)

RE: HOURS OF WORK AVERAGING ARRANGEMENT

The City and the Union agree, subject to the terms and conditions outlined below, to implement an hours of work averaging arrangement modifying the regular hours of work set out in Article 13 of the collective agreement for employees in the following classifications: Electric Distribution Inspector, Journeyman Electrician, Journeyman Power Systems Electrician, Metering Foreman, Stations Foreman, System Control Operator, System Control Foreman, Scheduler, Traffic & Lighting Foreman.

- 1) The regular hours of work shall average forty (40) hours per week over a two-week cycle.
- 2) The start and finish times on each day of the cycle shall be established between 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., with nine (9) hour days scheduled Monday to Thursday, and an eight (8) hour day scheduled on the first Friday. The second Friday is the earned off day.
- 3) The City may advance or delay the established start and finish times by one (1) hour or reschedule the earned day off within the designated pay cycle by providing employees with twenty-four (24) hours written notice.
- 4) Any hours worked in excess of the established daily hours of work shall be paid in accordance with overtime provisions of the collective agreement.
- 5) An employee through mutual agreement with their Manager may revert to the hours of work defined in Article 13 of the collective agreement.
- 6) If either Party to this agreement decides to revert to the hours of work defined in Article 13 of the collective agreement, it will serve the other Party with notice of its' intent to do so, in writing, at least thirty (30) days in advance of the anticipated change.

Signed this day of, behalf of the City of Medicine Hat,	2024 on	Signed this day of behalf of IBEW Local Union 254,	, 2024 or
Mayor		Business Manager	
City Clerk		Assistant Business Manager	